Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Redox Biology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/redox



Mini Review

Study designs to investigate Nox1 acceleration of neoplastic progression in immortalized human epithelial cells



Apsorn Sattayakhom^b, Warangkana Chunglok^b, Wanida Ittarat^c, Walee Chamulitrat^{a,*}

^a Department of Internal Medicine IV, University Heidelberg Hospital, Heidelberg, Germany

^b School of Allied Health Sciences and Public Health, Walailak University, Nakhon Si Thammarat, Thailand

^c Faculty of Medical Technology, Mahidol University, Bangkok, Thailand

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 6 December 2013 Received in revised form 10 December 2013 Accepted 11 December 2013 Available online 21 December 2013

Keywords: Immortalized gingival keratinocytes Spindle cells Cobblestone cells Intermediate filaments Cytokeratins EMT Invasion

ABSTRACT

To investigate the role of NADPH oxidase homolog Nox1 at an early step of cell transformation, we utilized human gingival mucosal keratinocytes immortalized by E6/E7 of human papillomavirus (HPV) type 16 (GM16) to generate progenitor cell lines either by chronic ethanol exposure or overexpression with Nox1. Among several cobblestone epithelial cell lines obtained, two distinctive spindle cell lines - FIB and NuB1 cells were more progressively transformed exhibiting tubulogenesis and anchorage-independent growth associated with increased invasiveness. These spindle cells acquired molecular markers of epithelial mesenchymal transition (EMT) including mesenchymal vimentin and simple cytokeratins (CK) 8 and 18 as well as myogenic alpha-smooth muscle actin and caldesmon. By overexpression and knockdown experiments, we showed that Nox1 on a post-translational level regulated the stability of CK18 in an ROS-, phosphorylation- and PKCepilon-dependent manner. PKCepilon may thus be used as a therapeutic target for EMT inhibition. Taken together, Nox1 accelerates neoplastic progression by regulating structural intermediate filaments leading to EMT of immortalized human gingival epithelial cells.

© 2013 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

Introduction.	. 140
Role of ROS and NADPH oxidases in epithelial cancers	. 141
Setting up model human epithelial cells to study Nox1 functions	. 141
Selection of preneoplastic human epithelial cells by differentiation resistance	141
Ethanol increases neoplastic progression of GM16 to cells expressing Nox1	141
Nox1 overexpression renders differentiation resistance for selection of preneoplastic cells	142
Limitations and pitfalls of a method of preneoplastic selection	143
Gain of survival markers in selected preneoplastic cells	143
Epithelial mesenchymal transition (EMT)	
of Nox1-preneoplastic cells.	144
Regulation of intermediate filaments by Nox1	144
Role of PKCepsilon in CK18 accumulation by Nox1	144
Role of Nox1 in accelerating transformation beyond immortalization steps	. 145
Acknowledgments	. 146
References	146

Abbreviations: AIG, anchorage-independent growth; CK, cytokeratin; EGF, epidermal growth factor; EMT, epithelial mesenchymal transition; GM, gingival mucosal; HPV, human papillomavirus; IAP, inhibitor of apoptosis protein; iNOS, inducible nitric oxide synthase; MEF2, myocyte enhancing factor 2; MMP, matrix metalloproteinases; Nox, NAD(P)H oxidase; PMA, 12-O- tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate; ROS, reactive oxygen species

⁴This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-No Derivative Works License, which permits noncommercial use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

^c Corresponding author. Tel.: +49 6221 56 38731; fax: +49 6221 56 5398. E-mail address: Walee.Chamulitrat@med.uni-heidelberg.de (W. Chamulitrat).

2213-2317/\$ - see front matter © 2013 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2013.12.010

Introduction

This mini-review illustrates our research approach to investigate the role of NADPH oxidase homolog 1 (Nox1) in neoplastic progression of human epithelial cells. It is known that a direct tumorigenic conversion of human epithelial cells to cancer phenotype is very difficult, and impossible to achieve in tissue cultures. Our experimental designs described below have provided new insights that Nox1 plays a role in regulation of epithelial mesenchymal transition (EMT) on the molecular and functional levels.

Role of ROS and NADPH oxidases in epithelial cancers

The implication for reactive oxygen species (ROS) to play a role in epithleial cancers has long been recognized based on the fact that human cancer cells produce high levels of H_2O_2 [1], and superoxide radical mediates neoplastic transformation of mouse keratinocytes [2]. Data in the last 14 years have shown that the sources of ROS in non-phagocytic epithelial cells are the homologs of gp91*phox*, the catalytic subunit of the respiratory burst oxidase of phagocytes, so-called Nox consisting of Nox1, Nox3, Nox4 and Nox5 (while gp91*phox* is Nox2) [3,4]. These Nox proteins are ~63– 65 kDa in size and show 20–60% sequence identity with one another. The first sequence of Nox cDNA from 3 laboratories was all cloned from normal human colon initially called Mox1 (mitogenic oxidase1) and later renamed as Nox1 [5–7].

Nox1, 2, 4, and 5 mRNAs are expressed in a variety of human cancer cell lines indicating an association with cancer development [3]. The role of Nox1 in cancer was first shown by growth stimulation and tumorigenic conversion of rodent NIH3T3 fibroblasts upon Nox1 overexpression [5]. This tumorigenic phenotype was reversed by overexpression of catalase indicating that H_2O_2 generated secondarily Nox1 serves as transformation signals [8]. Nox1 acting as a mitogenic oxidase was further confirmed by data showing Nox1 as a regulator of cyclin D1 [9], and that Nox1 produces H_2O_2 via Rac1 upon epidermal-growth-factor (EGF) receptor ligation [10].

The role of Nox1 in human epithelial cancers was first reported by showing that overexpression of Nox1 increased tumorigenic potentials of DU-145 human prostate cancer cell line [11]. While Nox1 mRNA is present in both primary and transformed human colonic epithelial cells [12], Nox1 mRNA is detected only in human colon tumors but not in ovarian, lymph, breast, prostate, lung, brain, and melanoma tumors [13]. Nox1 is strongly expressed in gastric adenocarcinomas, colonic adenomas and well differentiated adenocarcinomas [14], and breast and ovarian tumors [15]. However, a study in human colon reported that Nox1 was constitutively expressed in colonic epithelium but was not associated with colonic tumorigenesis [16]. These data did not support the role of Nox1 in cancer but rather in inflammation as Nox1 protein is also present in lymphocytes in inflammatory bowel disease.

Setting up model human epithelial cells to study Nox1 functions

Transformation and tumorigenic conversion of mouse cells, such as, keratinocytes [2] and fibroblasts [5] could be accomplished in one step by overexpression of an oncogene or oncogene-like such as Nox1. Human epithelial cells are highly resistant to transformation even after treatment with carcinogens [17,18]. Tumorigenic conversion and transformation of human epithelial cells can be achieved in a multi-step fashion, whereby immortalization is the critical step to obtain tumorigenicity [19,20]. This accounts for the difficulties to perform molecular studies on tumorigenic conversion of human cells, and in fact many studies utilize carcinoma cell lines. In the latter case, the mechanisms for an early stage of cell transformation cannot be studied. Therefore, we had taken a step in choosing a non-cancer immortalized cell line to study the role of Nox1 on phenotypic changes associated with preneoplastic progression beyond immortalization.

It is known that HPV16E6 is able to immortalize human keratinocytes [21], and confers resistance against radiation stress [22]. In our laboratory, we were able to successfully immortalize human gingival mucosal (GM) keratinocytes with human papillomavirus (HPV) type 16 E6/E7 oncogenes to generate a so-called GM16 cell line [23]. Immortalization by HPV has been shown to be prerequisite for progression of cell transformation elicited by subsequent exposure to a carcinogen, such as, benzo(*a*)pyrene [24], asbestos [25], cisplatin [26], and cigarette smoke condensate [27].

About the same time as the discovery of Nox1 [5], an earlier biochemical characterization of ROS generation by human epithelial cells was already described in human skin keratinocyte HaCaT cells during growth-factor activation [28] and overexpression of Ras [29]. In 2004, we accordingly have reported that HaCaT cells express Nox1, Nox2, and Nox4 at mRNA levels, and that Nox1 appears to be the major gp91*phox* homolog expressed on the protein level [30]. HaCaT cells carry genetic abnormalities from spontaneous immortalization and were identified as pre-transformed. HaCaT as an immortalized cell line proliferate in standard DMEM. We showed that HaCaT cells expressed Nox1 protein more than GM16 keratinocytes which proliferate only in low-calcium keratinocyte growth medium (KGM) [30].

Selection of preneoplastic human epithelial cells by differentiation resistance

Defective terminal differentiation in cell cultures is regarded as a consistent and selectable character of neoplastic human keratinocytes [31], and considered as an initiation of carcinogenesis [32]. In experiments using cultured cells, resistance against calciuminduced terminal differentiation has been used for selection of preneoplastic cells [33,34]. Indeed, preneoplastic cells induced by Ras [33], HPV16E6 [34], or treatment of 12-O- tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate (PMA) [35], exhibit an inhibition of terminal differentiation. Therefore, we utilize a criterion in selecting cells that are resistance against calcium-induced differentiation in our experiment.

Ethanol increases neoplastic progression of GM16 to cells expressing Nox1

As HPV16-immortalized human epithelial cells have been used to study tumorigenic potential of carcinogens [24–27], we were interested in whether ethanol could further neoplastic progression of HPV16-immortalized gingival mucosal epithelial keraitnocytes. In our first study, we exposed GM16 cells to 30 mM ethanol in KGM a closed small incubator with once per week ethanol replenishment for 9 weeks [23]. Many cells were initially died off when cultured medium was changed from KGM to standard high-calcium DMEM containing 10% serum without ethanol. Few selectable cells persisted and finally proliferated again to confluent cultures. Upon further 15 passaging in DMEM, mixed population of cobblestone and elongated progenitor cells were obtained. By differential trypsinization, two distinct cell populations were obtained named as EPI and FIB cell lines with epithelium-like cobblestone and elongated morphology, respectively (Fig. 1A). These EPI and FIB cells selected to survive ethanol-dependent stress and proliferating well in DMEM were considered more transformed than the parental GM16 cells.

FIB cells were fibroblast-like cells showing EMT also exhibited anchorage-independent growth (AIG), and thus considered as



Fig. 1. Experimental approaches in generation of selectable preneoplastic cell lines from GM16 cells. (A) Chronic treatment of GM16 cells with 30 mM ethanol produced cobblestone EPI and fibroblast-like FIB cells capable to proliferate in DMEM. The latter exhibited EMT with anchorage-independent growth. Phase contrast pictures show EPI and FIB cells at passages 195–215 in DMEM. (B) Transfection with Nucleofection or Fugene 6 of GM16 cells with Nox1 plasmids under stationary cultures in KGM followed by selection by high-calcium DMEM exposure. This, respectively, generated five NuB and FuB Nox1 cell lines capable of proliferating in DMEM. NuB1 cell line was the only line with EMT, the rest of Nox lines were cobblestone cells. Phase contrast pictures show representative cobblestone FuB1 and NuB1 cells at passages 74–78 in DMEM.

more transformed than EPI cells [23,36]. FIB cells at passages < 22 were able to revert back to EPI phenotype upon adaptation back to KGM indicating that the phenotype was unstable at this stage [36]. Passaging FIB cells to passages > 43 generated stable cells being unable to revert back to cobblestone morphology. Subcutaneous injection of EPI or FIB cells (at 60–70 passages) in nude mice did not form tumors, thus they were in an intermediate benign stage, but not yet tumorigenic as only FIB cells produced benign cysts [36]. Using this cell model, we reported that the more transformed FIB cells expressed increased Nox1 protein than less transformed EPI [36]. In an NADPH-reconstituted assay, plasma membranes isolated from FIB cells produced increased superoxide radical adducts compared to those from EPI cells. Thus, Nox1 expression is associated with cell transformation, i.e., elongated spindle phenotype and AIG [36].

Furthermore, we showed that FIB cells expressed increased levels of redox-sensitive inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) [37]. iNOS is shown to be associated with tumor invasiveness consistent with increased iNOS at mRNA and protein levels in FIB cells. The morphological reversion of FIB cells at low passages upon adaptation to grow in KGM was associated with the reversal of vimentin expression as well as AIG. Moreover, these revertants

showed reduced levels of iNOS mRNA as well as MAP kinase ERK and phospho-ERK protein expression, while FIB cells without reversion maintained the expression. The MEK1/2 inhibitor U0126 could reduce detectable iNOS mRNA levels suggesting that MAP kinases were upstream regulators of iNOS transcription. U0126 caused both morphological and functional reversion of FIB cells indicating involvement of MAP kinases in these functions [37].

Nox1 overexpression renders differentiation resistance for selection of preneoplastic cells

To address a direct impact of Nox1 on cell transformation, we performed transfection of GM16 cells with Nox1 plasmid [38]. In a similar manner as chronic ethanol treatment, we exposed transfected cells to high-calcium DMEM for selection of preneoplastic cells following stationary confluent cultures in low-calcium KGM (Fig. 1B). In Nox1-transfected cells, we observed resistant cells as small fast-dividing cells after exposure with DMEM and serum for 7–10 days. These cells grew rapidly into empty spaces as differentiated cells peeled off. After 3 weeks to allow confluent cultures, resistant cells could be passaged normally to obtain

Nox lines. Unlike primary human keratinocytes, Nox1-expressing HaCaT, EPI, and FIB cells proliferate in standard DMEM. This made it possible for us to test whether Nox1 expression confers resistance against differentiation induced by high calcium present in DMEM and serum [31–35]. We were able to obtain five stable Nox1 transfectants NuB1, FuB1, NuB2, FuB2, and NuB3 (named according to Nucleofection or Fugene6 transfection method and Batch number) (Fig. 1B). In the first round of DMEM exposure, we obtained NuB1 cell line which exhibited spindled EMT morphology and acquired AIG. In subsequent rounds, the rest of the four Nox1 transfectants produced cells with cobblestone morphology (Fig. 1B).

Limitations and pitfalls of a method of preneoplastic selection

Selection of preneoplastic human cells in cultures has been successfully utilized in oncogene- or HPV16-immortalized cells [33,34] rendering them to be susceptible for neoplastic progression by carcinogens [24–27]. In our work, control experiments, i.e., no ethanol treatment or control plasmid transfection were performed in parallel. Without chronic ethanol treatment, we did not obtain any progenitor cells. However, in control plasmid transfection prolonged exposure in DMEM was necessary to generate resistant cells which exhibited very slow growth rates at passages < 20, and became more proliferative at passages > 20 [38]. These cells were regarded as unusual cells which do not undergo terminal differentiation in culture previously described in human skin keratinocytes [39]. Thus, appropriate controls have to be performed for testing overexpression of a proposed oncogene or carcinogen. The limitations for selection in DMEM include an extended length of time to remove dead cells, and that the cultures should be kept stationary to near confluence prior to trypsinization. This may take as long as 3, 6 and 10 weeks for Nox1-overexpression experiments [38].

Gain of survival markers in selected preneoplastic cells

We further showed that preneoplastic cells by ethanol exposure or Nox1 overexpression acquire increased cell survival markers. Cyclin kinase inhibitor p16^{INK4a} is associated with by-pass senescence and immortalization. Cyclin kinase complexation is known to be altered by E6/E7 oncoproteins of HPV16, and thus increases of p16^{INK4a} are commonly observed in HPV16-containing cancer tissues [21,23]. As shown in Fig. 2A, p16^{INK4a} was upregulated in NuB1 line compared with cobblestone cell lines and FIB cells harvested at equivalent passages. Ethanol-induced resistant EPI and FIB cells showed an upregulation of p16^{INK4a} compared with parental GM16 cells [23]. Protein expression of another cyclin kinase inhibitor p27KIP1 was increased in NuB1 cells compared with cobblestone cells [40]. Survivin is a protein in a family of inhibitor of apoptosis protein (IAP), and its increased expression is associated with early stage of transformation, and during development of malignancy. NuB1 line expressed increased survivin protein compared with other Nox1 cobblestone lines (Fig. 2A). In a similar manner, NuB1 cells expressed increased cIAP-1, cIAP-2 as well as anti-apoptosis family member Bclx, and Bcl-2 proteins compared with cobblestone Nox lines [40]. Our data hence provide an evidence for survival advantage of spindle fibroblast-like cells over cobblestone cells.

We analyzed expression of Nox-based adapter proteins in our cell lines [41–43]. Nox1-derived cell lines showed greater mRNA expression of Nox1, Rac1, p47*phox*, p67*phox*, NOXO1, and NOXA1 concomitant with increased superoxide generation [38]. Western analysis of p47*phox* and p67*phox* of these lines is shown in Fig. 2B. All Nox-derived cell lines lacked p47*phox* protein expression suggesting that the Nox-derived cell lines may utilize NOXA to replace p47*phox*'s function. While other cobblestone lines expressed p67*phox*, the spindle NuB1 and FIB cells did not express p67*phox* for Nox1 activation. This finding gives insights into



Fig. 2. Expression levels of cell cycle, cell survival and Nox1 adapter proteins among spindle and cobblestone cells. (A) NuB1 cells expressed p16^{INK4a} (top), and survivin (bottom) at higher levels than other cobblestone cell lines and FIB cells. Right 2 panels show quantification of p16^{INK4a}/β-actin and survivin//β-actin ratio among 3 cobblestone and 2 spindle cell lines. (B) Western blot analyses of p47*phox* (top) and p67*phox* (bottom) show the absence of p47*phox* in all Nox lines, while p67*phox* was absent only in spindle NuB1 and FIB cells. A right panel shows quantification of p67*phox*/β-actin ratio among 3 cobblestone and 2 spindle cell lines.

specificity towards NOXA1 for preneoplastic epithelial cobblestone cells, and that towards NOXO1 for spindle elongated FIB and NuB1 cells for Nox1 activation [41–43].

Epithelial mesenchymal transition (EMT) of Nox1-preneoplastic cells

Two sets of cell lines were hence generated as model systems to study an impact of Nox1 on neoplastic progression – EPI and FIB from chronic ethanol exposure [23,36,37], and five Nox1 cell lines with spindle NuB1 cells from Nox1 overexpression [38]. The spindle FIB and NuB1 cells exhibiting EMT were compared with their control counterparts. Our more recent data demonstrate the progressive steps of FIB and NuB1 cells in cell migration, invasion, and metastatic potentials.

Nox1 overexpression causes branching tubulogenic potential previously reported for sinusoidal endothelial cells [44]. Branching morphogenesis is commonly used to characterize breast and prostate cancer cells. Upon resistance against Matrigel-induced differentiation, FIB and NuB1 cells formed branching tubulogenesis with cords lacking lumen, while corresponding cobblestone cells did not [44,45]. Using invasion/migration Boyden chamber, FIB and NuB1 cells were more invasive with increased migratory capacity than control cobblestone cell lines [45,46].

EMT of FIB and NuB1 cells was associated with the loss of epithelial marker E-cadherin as well as the gain of mesenchymal marker vimentin and fetal-type intermediate filament cytokeratins (CK) 8 and 18 [23,36,37,38]. We also demonstrated that EMT of FIB and NuB1 cells involved increased expression of myofibroblast proteins, namely, vimentin, alpha-smooth muscle actin as well as muscle and non-muscle caldesmon [46]. Hence, neoplastic transformation of immortalized mucosal gingival epithelial cells involves epithelial myofibroblast transition to be included into the 'EMT' definition. We further reported that cellular contractility of spindle FIB and NuB1 cells was increased compared with that of cobblestone cells [46]. Myocyte enhancing factor 2B (MEF2B) is the only MEF2 isoform which is expressed during early embryonic development, and it may transactivate downstream target EMT proteins. Expression of MEF2B mRNA and myofibroblast proteins was higher in spindle NuB1 and FIB cells compared to cobblestone cells. EGF treatment of cobblestone control cells also induced expression of these genes. Knockdown of MEF2B in a cobblestone cell line abolished EGF-induced upregulation of MEF2, vimentin and non-muscle caldesmon proteins [37]. Thus, our work provides an additional mechanism that EMT of immortalized gingival epithelial cells may involve activation of MEF2B associated with myogenic phenotype.

ROS are known to regulate proteins that are important for degradation of extracellular matrices, such as, gelatinase matrix metalloproteinases (MMP)-2, -9, which are key enzymes for degrading type IV collagen and thought to play a critical role in tumor invasion and metastasis. We showed that EPI cells secreted latent MMP-9 (92 kDa) and MMP-2 (72 kDa) [47]. FIB cells released a protein at 86 kDa with a slight lower molecular weight than latent MMP-9 [45,47]. MMP-9 at 86 kDa is known as an intermediate after first cleavage of latent MMP-9 by MMP-3. Thus, FIB cells secrete partially active MMP-9 by the action of stromelysin MMP-3, and the implication of MMP-3 in FIB cells is consistent with the role of ROS-induced MMP-3 in EMT induction and genomic instability.

Regulation of intermediate filaments by Nox1

In an association with EMT, we extensively studied expression and regulation of intermediate filaments in FIB and NuB1 cells. These cells strongly expressed vimentin protein while corresponding cobblestone cells expressed nearly undetectable vimentin [23,36,37]. Similar to cancer Caco-2 cells, NuB1 and FIB cells strongly expressed CK8 and CK18 while other Nox lines expressed weaker CK18 [38]. Because simple or fetal keratins, such as, CK8/ CK18 are associated with malignant progression in different types of ras-induced mouse keratinocytes [48], and human epithelial tumors [49,50], our data demonstrate that Nox1 accelerates neoplastic-like progression by regulating CK.

We showed that the parental immortalized GM16 cells cultured in KGM expressed very weak CK18 compared with Nox1 lines, such as cobblestone NuB2 cells cultured in DMEM [51]. In order to gain insights into how Nox1 regulate CK8/CK18, we performed overexpression of GM16 cells with Nox1-, control-, and Nox1-truncated variant (Nox1-tv) plasmids in KGM. We found that Nox1 plasmid increased CK18 protein, but not CK18 mRNA [51]. Alternatively, NuB2 cells cultured in DMEM were used in Nox1-knockdown experiments. Again, the knockdown decreased CK18 protein, but not CK18 mRNA. More relevantly, antioxidant N-acetyl-L-cysteine as well as Nox inhibitor diphenyleneiodonium or apocynin decreased CK18 protein expression in NuB2 cells indicating redox regulation involving Nox1. Thus, increased Nox1 induces accumulation of CK18 protein in a redox-dependent manner.

We further showed that Nox1 in a redox-dependent manner inhibited CK18 degradation at post-translational level as evidenced by CK18 accumulation upon proteasome inhibitor MG132 treatment. Furthermore, we showed that the increased CK18 protein expression in Nox1-overexpressed GM16 cells was concomitant with increased phosphorylation of CK18 at serine 52 (pS52CK18). The opposite was found upon Nox1-knockdown of NuB2 cells showing decreases of both CK18 and pS52CK18. By immunoprecipitation assay, we showed that Nox1 knockdown or treatment of NuB2 cells with diphenyleneiodonium accumulated the levels of ubiquinated CK18. This enhanced degradation thus causing decreased CK18 protein. We hence have provided strong evidence for post-translational regulation of CK18 by Nox1 involving phosphorylation and ubiquitination [51].

Role of PKCepsilon in CK18 accumulation by Nox1

It has been known that NADPH oxidase enzymes can be activated by beta-, delta- and epsilon PKC isotypes [52]. In this context, PKCepsilon has been shown to associate with and phosphorylate CK18 [53], and thus PKCepsilon was proposed to be a signaling molecule that regulates CK18 at post-translational level in Nox1expressing cells. We here show new results: treatment of NuB2 cells with a PKC inhibitor Gö6983 decreased expression of CK18 protein in cells alone or upon activation with PKC activator PMA (Fig. 3A). Gö6983 or PKCepsilon siRNA concomitantly inhibited EGF-induced ROS generation (Fig. 3B). Transfection of NuB2 cells with PKCepsilon siRNAs decreased expression of CK18 protein when compared with control siRNA (Fig. 3C). We therefore provide new evidence that PKCepsilon could be a mediator of Nox1 and ROS which regulate a post-translational accumulation of CK18.

Thus, our data showed that CK18 phosphorylation at ser-52 was dependent on Nox1, PKC and ROS. These events may lead to cytoskeletal dynamics associated with the reorganization of keratin filaments in cell division. In Nox1-expressing cells, PKCepsilon may be a key kinase as it is able to phosphorylate CK18 [53]. As depicted in Fig. 3D, ligation of EGF tyrosine kinase receptor during cell growth activates PKCepsilon leading to Nox1 activation and oxidant generation. PKCepsilon alone or Nox1-mediated oxidants may induce phosphorylation of CK18. This prevents CK18 from being ubiquinated resulting in decreased Ub-CK18 thereby increased CK18 accumulation. The use of DPI, apocynin, NAC, Gö6983, and PKCepilon siRNA was able



Fig. 3. Impact of PKCepsilon on CK18 protein expression in a cobblestone NuB2 cells. (A) Treatment of NuB2 cells with 1 μM a pan PKC inhibitor Gö6983 for 6, 18 or 30 h decreased CK18 protein expression (left panel). Increases of CK18 protein upon treatment of NuB2 cells with 500 nM PKC activator phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA) were inhibited by 1 μM Gö6983 after 1, 3 and 6 h (right panel). (B) Gö6983 treatment inhibited EGF-induced ROS generation (left panel). EGF treatment of NuB2 cells increased ROS generation in mock- and control siRNA-transfected cells. PKCepsilon siRNA-transfection abolished these increases (right panel). (C) PKCepsilon siRNA-transfected NuB2 cells for 24 h expressed decreased CK18 protein compared with control siRNA used at 50 nM (top panel). Quantification of CK18 protein form 3 different PKCepsilon, siRNA showed significant decreases of CK18 compared with control siRNA transfection. (D) Proposed mechanism for stabilization of CK18 by Nox1 in a PKCepsilon, ROS, and CK18 phosphorylation-dependent manner. EGF triggers PKCepsilon signaling for Nox1 to generate ROS which induce increased phosphorylation of CK18, which are subjected for ubiquitination and degradation, resulting in increased CK18 accumulation. Our experiments using Gö6983, antioxidant, Nox inhibitor or PKCepsilon siRNA have proven that this CK18 accumulation is inhibited.

to reverse the processes resulting in decreased CK18 protein levels. Phosphorylation of CK18 at ser-52 by PKCepsilon-mediated Nox1 activation may be an important key step in determining the levels of CK18 subjected for ubiquination (Fig. 3D). PKCepsilon is shown to increase cell growth and inhibits apoptosis [54] in human HaCaT keratinocytes which express Nox1. While Nox1 is activated by Ras in human colon cancer, PKCepsilon has also been shown to interact with ras signaling pathway in colon epithelial cells [55]. PKCepsilon has been shown to advance progression of human prostate cancer [56], which highly expresses Nox1. PKCepsilon not only regulates CK18 as demonstrated in our studies, it also regulates vimentin [57] and actin [58] in the control of cell motility and fiber organization.

PKCepsilon may be considered an effector molecule of Nox-based enzymes, particularly Nox1, in promoting transformation progression of and cancer cells for CK18 stabilization in a PKCepsilon-, ROSand phosphorylation-dependent manner. This post-translational mechanism for CK18 accumulation is consistent with the persistent presence of CK18 in many epithelial carcinomas. Our data also indicate that PKCepsilon is an important mediator that contributes to CK18 persistence, proliferation and apoptosis resistance in Nox1expressing cells. Nox1 and PKCepsilon may thus be used as targets to inhibit the progression of preneoplastic and cancer cells.

Role of Nox1 in accelerating transformation beyond immortalization steps

To study the role of Nox1 and Nox1-derived ROS in human epithelial cancers, we accomplished our goals in establishing preneoplastic model cells from HPV16-immortalized gingival mucosal cells by chronic ethanol or by Nox1 overexpression. Phenotypic characterization of resultant cell lines indicates progressive steps in cell transformation with spindle cells at higher steps than cobblestone epithelial cells. Spindle cells associated with EMT are likely more migratory and invasive. Molecular targets of Nox1 involve p16INK4a, survivin, MMP, MEF2B, CK18, and PKCepsilon, while the latter three regulate EMT. Taken together, Nox1 mediates the progression of immortalized human epithelial cells towards tumorigenicity partly by an induction of EMT. In human epithelial cancers, Nox1 may be functional together with other oncogenes in accelerating neoplastic progression.

Acknowledgments

Our study was supported by DFG (CH288/3), Thailand Research Fund, and DAAD.

References

- T. Szatrowski, C. Nathan, Production of large amounts of hydrogen peroxide by human tumor cells, Cancer Res. 51 (1991) 794–798.
- [2] Y. Nakamura, T. Ginhart, D. Winterstein, I. Tomita, J.L. Seed, N.H. Colburn, Early superoxide dismutase-sensitive event promotes neoplastic transformation in mouse epidermal JB6 cells, Carcinogenesis 9 (1988) 203–207.
- [3] G. Cheng, Z. Cao, X. Xu, E.G. van MeirJ.D. Lambeth, Homologs of gp91phox: cloning and tissue expression of Nox3, Nox4, and Nox5, Gene 269 (2001) 131–140.
- [4] J.D. Lambeth, Nox/Duox family of nicotinamide adenine dinycleotide (phosphate) oxidases, Curr. Opin. Hematol. 9 (2002) 11–17.
- [5] Y.A. Suh, R.S. Arnold, B. Lassegue, J. Shi, X. Xu, D. Sorescu, A.B. Chung, K.K. Griendling, J.D. Lambeth, Cell transformation by the superoxidegenerating oxidase Mox1, Nature **401** (6748) (1999) 79–82.
- [6] B. Banfi, A. Maturana, S. Jaconi, S. Arnaudeau, T. Laforge, B. Sinha, E. Ligeti, N. Demaurex, K.H. Krause, A mamalian H⁺ channel generated through alternative splicing of the NADPH oxidase homolog NOH-1, Science 287 (5450) (2000) 138–142.
- [7] H. Kikuchi, M. Hikage, H. Miyashita, M. Fukumoto, NADPH oxidase subunit, gp91phox homologue, preferentially expressed in human colon epithelial cells, Gene 254 (2000) 237–243.
- [8] R.S. Arnold, J. Shi, E. Murad, A.M. Whalen, C.Q. Sun, R. Polavarapu, S. Parthasarathy, J.A. Petros, J.D. Lambeth, Hydrogen peroxide mediates the cell growth and transformation caused by the mitogenic oxidase Nox1, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. **98** (10) (2001) 5550–5555.
- [9] P. Ranjan, V. Anathy, P.M. Burch, K. Weirather, J.D. Lambeth, N.H. Heintz, Redox-dependent expression of cyclin D1 and cell proliferation by Nox1 in mouse lung epithelial cells, Antioxid. Redox Signal. 8 (2006) 1447–1459.
- [10] H.S. Park, S.H. Lee, D. Park, J.S. Lee, S.H. Ryu, W.J. Lee, S.G. Rhee, Y.S. Bae, Sequential activation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase, beta Pix, Rac1, and Nox1 in growth factor-induced production of H₂O₂, Mol. Cell Biol. 24 (2004) 4384–4394.
- [11] J.L. Arbiser, J. Petros, R. Klafter, B. Govindajaran, E.R. McLaughlin, L.F. Brown, C. Cohen, M. Moses, S. Kilroy, R.S. Arnold, J.D. Lambeth, Reactive oxygen generated by Nox1 triggers the angiogenic switch, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 22 (2002) 715–720.
- [12] A. Perner, L. Andresen, G. Pedersen, J. Rask-Madsen, Superoxide production and expression of NAD(P)H oxidases by transformed and primary human colonic epithelial cells, Gut 52 (2003) 231–236.
- M. Geiszt, K. Lekstrom, S. Brenner, S. Hewitt, R. Dana, H. Malech, T. Leto, NAD (P)H oxidase 1, a product of differentiated colon epithelial cells, can partially replace glycoprotein 91phox in the regulated production of superoxide by phagocytes, J. Immunol. **170** (2003) 299–306.
- [14] M. Fukuyama, K. Rokutan, T. Sano, H. Miyake, M. Shimada, S. Tashiro, Overexpression of a novel superoxide-producing enzyme, NADPH oxidase 1, in adenoma and well differentiated adenocarcinoma of the human colon, Cancer Lett. 221 (2005) 97–104.
- [15] M.M. Desouki, M. Kulawiec, S. Bansal, G.M. Das, K.K. Singh, Cross talk between mitochondria and superoxide generating NADPH oxidase in breast and ovarian tumors, Cancer Biol. Ther. 4 (2005) 1367–1373.
- [16] I. Szanto, L. Rubbia-Brandt, P. Kiss, K. Steger, B. Banfi, E. Kovari, F. Herrmann, A. Hadengue, K.H. Krause, Expression of NOX1, a superoxide-generating NADPH oxidase, in colon cancer and inflammatory bowel disease, J. Pathol. 207 (2005) 164–176.
- [17] J.J. McCormick, V.M. Maher, Towards an understanding of the malignant transformation of diploid human fibroblasts, Mutat. Res. 199 (2) (1988) 273–291.
- [18] J.S. Rhim, Neoplastic transformation of human cells in vitro, Crit. Rev. Oncog. 4 (3) (1993) 313–335.
- [19] J.S. Rhim, J.H. Yoo, J.H. Park, P. Thraves, Z. Salehi, A. Dritschilo, Evidence for the multistep nature of in vitro human epithelial cell carcinogenesis, Cancer Res. 50 (1990) 5653S–5657S.
- [20] T. Kuroki, N.H. Huh, Why are human cells resistant to malignant cell transformation in vitro? Jpn. J. Cancer Res. 84 (11) (1993) 1091–1100.
- [21] R.A. Watson, M. Thomas, L. Banks, S. Roberts, Activity of the human papillomavirus E6 PDZ-binding motif correlates with an enhanced morphological transformation of immortalized human keratinocytes, J. Cell. Sci. 116 (2003) 4925-4934.
- [22] S. Mouret, A. Favier, J.C. Beani, M.T. Leccia, Differential p53-mediated responses to solar-simulated radiation in human papillomavirus type 16-infected keratinocytes, Exp. Dermatol. 16 (6) (2007) 476–484.

- [23] W. Chamulitrat, R. Schmidt, W. Chunglok, P. Tomakidi, Epithelium-like and fibroblast-like phenotypes derived from HPV16 E6/E7-immortalized human gingival keratinocytes following chronic ethanol treatment, Eur. J. Cell Biol. 82 (2003) 313–322.
- [24] N.H. Park, C.N. Gujuluva, J.H. Baek, H.M. Cherrick, K.H. Shin, B.M. Min, Combined oral carcinogenicity of HPV-16 and benzo(a)pyrene: an in vitro multistep carcinogenesis model, Oncogene 10 (11) (1995) 2145–2153.
- [25] Y.L. Zhao, C.Q. Piao, T.K. Hei, Downregulation of Betaig-h3 gene is causally linked to tumorigenic phenotype in asbestos treated immortalized human bronchial epithelial cells, Oncogene 21 (49) (2002) 7471–7477.
- [26] Z. Ding, X. Yang, G. Chernenko, S.C. Tang, A. Pater, Human papillomavirus type 16-immortalized endocervical cells selected for resistance to cisplatin are malignantly transformed and have a multidrug resistance phenotype, Int. J. Cancer 87 (6) (2000) 818–823.
- [27] X. Yang, Y. Nakao, M.M. Pater, S.C. Tang, A. Pater, Expression of cellular genes in HPV16-immortalized and cigarette smoke condensate-transformed human endocervical cells, J. Cell. Biochem. 66 (3) (1997) 309–321.
- [28] R. Goldman, S. Moshonov, U. Zor, Generation of reactive oxygen species in a human keratinocyte cell line: role of calcium, Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 350 (1998) 10–18.
- [29] J.-Q. Yang, S. Li, F.E. Domann, G.R. Buettner, L.W. Oberley, Superoxide generation in v-Ha-ras-transduced human keratinocyte HaCaT cells, Mol. Carcinog. 26 (1999) 180–188.
- [30] W. Chamulitrat, W. Stremmel, T. Kawahara, K. Rokutan, H. Fujii, K. Wingler, H.H. Schmidt, R. Schmidt, A constitutive NADPH oxidase-like system containing gp91phox homologs in human keratinocytes, J. Invest. Dermatol. **122** (4) (2004) 1000–1009.
- [31] J.G. Rheinwald, M.A. Beckett, Defective terminal differentiation in culture as a consistent and selectable character of malignant human keratinocytes, Cell 22 (2 Pt 2) (1980) 629–632.
- [32] H. Kawamura, J.E. Strickland, S.H. Yuspa, Association of resistance to terminal differentiation with initiation of carcinogenesis in adult mouse epidermal cells, Cancer Res. 45 (6) (1985) 2748–2752.
- [33] M. Kulesz-Martin, A.E. Kilkenny, K.A. Holbrook, V. Digernes, S.H. Yuspa, Properties of carcinogen altered mouse epidermal cells resistant to calciuminduced terminal differentiation, Carcinogenesis 4 (1983) 1367–1377.
- [34] L. Sherman, R. Schlegel, Serum- and calcium-induced differentiation of human keratinocytes is inhibited by the E6 oncoprotein of human papillomavirus type 16, J. Virol. **70** (1996) 3269–3279.
- [35] J. Karen, Y. Wang, A. Javaherian, M. Vaccariello, N.E. Fusenig, J.A. Garlick, 12-Otetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate induces clonal expansion of potentially malignant keratinocytes in a tissue model of early neoplastic progression, Cancer Res. 59 (1999) 474–481.
- [36] W. Chamulitrat, R. Schmidt, P. Tomakidi, W. Stremmel, W. Chunglok, T. Kawahara, K. Rokutan, Association of gp91phox homolog Nox1 with anchorage independent growth and MAP Kinase-activation of transformed human keratinocytes, Oncogene 22 (2003) 6045–6053.
- [37] W. Chunglok, W. Ittarat, P. Tomakidi, R. Schmidt, W. Stremmel, W. Chamulitrat, Human gingival mucosal keratinocytes exhibiting anchorage-independent growth express increased inducible nitric oxide synthase: regulation by MAP kinases, Nitric Oxide 11 (2004) 237–246.
- [38] W. Chamulitrat, A. Huber, H.D. Riedel, W. Stremmel, Nox1 induces differentiation resistance in immortalized human keratinocytes generating cells that express simple epithelial keratins, J. Invest. Dermatol. 127 (2007) 2171–2183.
- [39] J.C. Adams, F.M. Watt, An unusual strain of human keratinocytes which do not stratify or undergo terminal differentiation in culture, J. Cell Biol. 107 (1988) 1927–1938.
- [40] W. Chamulitrat, A. Sattayakhom, C. Herold-Mende, W. Stremmel, Human papillomavirus 16 E6/E7-immortalized human gingival keratinocytes with epithelial mesenchymal transition acquire increased expression of cIAP-1, Bclx and p27(Kip1), Exp. Dermatol. 18 (12) (2009) 1067–1069.
- [41] B. Banfi, R.A. Clark, K. Steger, K.H. Krause, Two novel proteins activate superoxide generation by the NADPH oxidase NOX1, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (6) (2003) 3510–3513.
- [42] R. Takeya, N. Ueno, K. Kami, M. Taura, M. Kohjima, T. Izaki, H. Nunoi, H. Sumimoto, Novel human homologues of p47phox and p67phox participate in activation of superoxide-producing NADPH oxidases, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (27) (2003) 25234–25246.
- [43] M. Geiszt, K. Lekstrom, J. Witta, T.L. Leto, Proteins homologous to p47phox and p67phox support superoxide production by NAD(P)H oxidase 1 in colon epithelial cells, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (22) (2003) 20006–20012.
- [44] S. Kobayashi, Y. Nojima, M. Shibuya, Y. Maru, Nox1 regulates apoptosis and potentially stimulates branching morphogenesis in sinusoidal endothelial cells, Exp. Cell Res. **300** (2004) 455–462.
- [45] W. Chamulitrat, Role of gp91phox homolog nox1 in induction of premalignant spindle phenotypes of HPV 16 E6/E7-immortalized human keratinocytes, Sci. World J. **10** (2010) 1435–1449.
- [46] Q. Sun, A. Sattayakhom, J. Backs, W. Stremmel, W. Chamulitrat, Role of myocyte enhancing factor 2B in epithelial myofibroblast transition of human gingival keratinocytes, Exp. Biol. Med. Maywood 237 (2) (2012) 178–185.
- [47] A. Huber, P. Thongphasuk, G. Erben, W.D. Lehmann, S. Tuma, W. Stremmel, W. Chamulitrat, Significantly greater antioxidant anticancer activities of 2, 3-dehydrosilybin than silybin, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1780 (2008) 837–847.
- [48] C. Cheng, A.E. Kilkenny, D. Roop, S.H. Yuspa, The v-ras oncogene inhibits the expression of differentiation markers and facilitates expression of cytokeratins 8 and 18 in mouse keratinocytes, Mol. Carcinog. **3** (6) (1990) 363–373.

- [49] H.C. Bisgaard, P.T. Ton, P. Nagy, S.S. Thorgeirsson, Phenotypic modulation of keratins, vimentin, and alpha-fetoprotein in cultured rat liver epithelial cells after chemical, oncogene, and spontaneous transformation, J. Cell. Physiol. 159 (1994) 485–494.
- [50] Y.W. Chu, E.A. Seftor, L.H. Romer, M.J. Hendrix, Experimental coexpression of vimentin and keratin intermediate filaments in human melanoma cells augments motility, Am. J. Pathol. 148 (1996) 63–69.
- [51] A. Sattayakhom, W. Ittiwat, W. Stremmel, W. Chamulitrat, Redox regulation of cytokeratin 18 protein by NADPH oxidase 1 in preneoplastic human epithelial cells, J. Cancer Res. Clin. Oncol. **137** (**11**) (2011) 1669–1678.
- [52] P. Sharma, A.T. Evans, P.J. Parker, F.J. Evans, NADPH-oxidase activation by protein kinase C-isotypes, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 177 (1991) 1033–1040.
- [53] M.B. Omary, G.T. Baxter, C.F. Chou, C.L. Riopel, W.Y. Lin, B. Strulovici, PKC epsilon-related kinase associates with and phosphorylates cytokeratin 8 and 18, J. Cell Biol. 117 (1992) 583–593.
- [54] H. Papp, G. Czifra, E. Bodó, J. Lázár, I. Kovács, M. Aleksza, I. Juhász, P. Acs, S. Sipka, L. Kovács, P.M. Blumberg, T. Bíró, Opposite roles of protein kinase C

isoforms in proliferation, differentiation, apoptosis, and tumorigenicity of human HaCaT keratinocytes, Cell. Mol. Life. Sci. **61** (2004) 1095–1105.

- [55] G.P. Perletti, P. Concari, S. Brusaferri, E. Marras, F. Piccinini, A.H. Tashjian Jr., Protein kinase Cepsilon is oncogenic in colon epithelial cells by interaction with the ras signal transduction pathway, Oncogene 16 (1998) 3345–3348.
 [56] D. Wu, T.L. Foreman, C.W. Gregory, M.A. McJilton, G.G. Wescott, O.H. Ford,
- [56] D. Wu, T.L. Foreman, C.W. Gregory, M.A. McJilton, G.G. Wescott, O.H. Ford, R.F. Alvey, J.L. Mohler, D.M. Terrian, Protein kinase c epsilon has the potential to advance the recurrence of human prostate cancer, Cancer Res. 62 (2002) 2423–2429.
- [57] J. Ivaska, K. Vuoriluoto, T. Huovinen, I. Izawa, M. Inagaki, P.J. Parker, PKCepsilon-mediated phosphorylation of vimentin controls integrin recycling and motility, EMBO J. 24 (2005) 3834–3845.
- [58] Y. Li, J.M. Urban, M.L. Cayer, H.K. Plummer 3rd, C.A. Heckman, Actin-based features negatively regulated by protein kinase C-epsilon, Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 291 (2006) C1002–C1013.